United States Court of Appeals
Fifth Circuit

FILED
January 12, 2007

UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

Charles R. Fulbruge llI
Clerk

No. 05-10943

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
V.
LORI KAY SPURLOCK; JERRY LEW S POORE,

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court for the
Northern District of Texas, Dallas

Before JOLLY, DAVIS, and BENAVIDES, C rcuit Judges.

BENAVI DES, Circuit Judge:”

In 2004, a federal grand jury returned an 11-count indictnent
against Jerry Lewis Poore and Lori Kay Spurl ock. Poore and
Spur | ock were each i ndicted on charges of conspiring to defraud the
United States (Count 1), conspiring to commt bankruptcy fraud
(Count 9), and concealing bankruptcy assets (Count 10). The

gover nnment charged Poore alone with three counts of attenpting to

" Pursuant to 5THCQR R 47.5, the court has deterni ned that
this opi nion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCQR R 47.5. 4.



evade and defeat taxes (Counts 2, 4 and 7) and three counts of
failing to file a tax return (Counts 3, 5 and 8). It charged
Spur |l ock al one with conceal i ng bankruptcy assets (Count 11). The
gover nnent dropped one count (Count 6) on its own notion.

A jury found Poore and Spurlock guilty on all remaining
counts. Poore was sentenced to 33 nonths’ inprisonnent foll owed by
t hree years of supervised rel ease, along wth a concurrent sentence
of 12 nonths’ inprisonnent followed by one year of supervised
rel ease. Spurlock was sentenced to 27 nonths’ inprisonnent
followed by three years of supervised release. They were also
ordered to pay, joint and severally, $164,002 in restitution.

Poore and Spurl ock contest the sufficiency of the evidence on
several of their convictions. Spurl ock further argues that her
conviction for conspiracy to commt bankruptcy fraud was based on
time-barred evidence, and that she should not have been held
jointly and severally liable for the full restitution anount.
Fi ndi ng sufficient evidence as to each contested conviction, and no
merit in Spurlock’s two independent argunents, we AFFIRM the
judgnents of the district court.

| . BACKGROUND

The convictions relate to a printing and copying business
Spur | ock and Poore operated called Col or Laser Institute (“CLI").
The incrimnating facts generally fall under the categories of (1)
tax fraud and evasion, and (2) bankruptcy fraud.

A. Tax Fraud and Evasi on




CLI had two business bank accounts at Bank One—ene for
operations and one for petty cash. Poore and Spurl ock conmonly
woul d pay personal bills out of the operating account at Bank One,
drawi ng checks for country club fees, nortgage paynents, car
paynments, |awn service and a down paynent on Poore’s second hone.
CLI paid sone enployees in cash and did not pay taxes on those
anmount s.

While CLI's enpl oyees and account ant knew about the Bank One
accounts, Spurlock and Poore al so kept a secret account at Bank of
Anerica (“Bof A’) on which Poore was the sole signatory.! Checks
witten to CLI were often deposited there, and sone conpanies
wrote CLI checks to Poore personally, which were then deposited in
this account. The defendants often used the Bof A funds for
per sonal expenses.

CLlI's accountant, M chael Law, was hired to perform
conpi l ation services and create CLI’'s statenents based on fi nanci al
data provided to him He was not hired to audit or verify the
financial information he received. Law kept CLI's books on the
accrual nethod, whereby incone is counted when earned rather than
col l ected, and expenses are counted when they are incurred rather

t han deducted.? Wen bal ancing the books for a conpany that uses

YWhile it is not entirely clear, it appears that the
accountant, M chael Law, only knew of the Bank One operating
account and was unaware of the Bank One petty cash account. That
fact is uninportant to the issues at hand, so we focus on Law s
i gnorance of the Bof A account.

2 The alternative to the accrual method of accounting is
the cash nethod. Under the cash nethod, sales and expenses are



the accrual system sales should equal cash deposits plus the
change in accounts receivable. |If the formula does not work, at
| east one of the figures is wong and nust be adjusted to bal ance
conpany books.

In 1999, Law began to notice that CLI’'s sales nunbers were
consistently higher than its recorded deposits in the Bank One
operating account, and change in accounts receivable did not nake
up the difference. Toward the end of that year, Law asked Spurl ock
if all CLI's deposits were being made. Spurlock replied that they
were and suggested that sal es be adjusted downward to account for
any discrepancy. The lower CLI’'s sales nunber, the |ess taxable
incone it had. Spurlock did not tell Law about the Bof A account or
the deposits made into it, which mght have accounted for the
di screpancies. Deposits into the Bof A account total ed $34, 205 in
1997, $198, 736 in 1998, $329,893 in 1999 and $37, 227 t hr ough August
2000.

There was significant disagreenent at trial as to how many of
CLI's Bof A deposits had corresponding sales reports filed with

Law.® These disputed reports are referred to here as the “BofA

recorded only when incone is received and paynents deduct ed.

® This dispute is significant because, under the accrual
met hod of accounting, if all sales are reported then where the
anounts are deposited nmay be irrelevant. However, when an
accountant is checking the sal es nunbers agai nst bank deposits
and adj usting the nunbers so they match—-as was the case here when
sal es nunbers were adjusted downward to match deposits—havi ng
accurate deposit reports is crucial under the accrual nethod.
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sales figures”. There is no dispute that Law did not have access
to the Bof A accounts or deposit slips, but the defense argued that
the sales figures given to Law included all anmounts deposited into
t he Bof A account.

Wi | e prosecution w tnesses suggested that Bof A sales figures
were regul arly unreported, defense wtnesses triedto interpret the
data provided to Law as i ncl udi ng the Bof A sales figures. However,
even the defense’s fraud exam ner testified that some of the checks
deposited in the Bank of Anmerica account did not have correspondi ng
sales information recorded in CLI's books.

A revenue agent testified that the paynents to Poore funnel ed
t hrough t he Bank of Anerica account shoul d have been recogni zed by
himas incone. The total incone tax Poore should have paid, but
did not pay for 1998 t hrough 2000, was $93,243. Poore did not file
any tax returns from 1992 to 2000. Spurlock filed no returns
bet ween 1993 and 1997. Her 1997 and 1998 returns were filed late
i n Novenber 1999. No returns or extension requests were filed for
1999 or 2000.

B. Bankr upt cy Fraud

In August 2001, Spurlock and CLI underwent bankruptcy
pr oceedi ngs. The bankruptcy court entered an order of relief
freezing CLI’s assets. Spurlock submtted schedul es decl ari ng her
assets and liabilities. Spurlock listed assets of only $3,100 and

liabilities of $412,991 and no incone. She listed only one Bank



One account with a bal ance of $100. A bank statenment for the CLI
operating account showed a bal ance of $3, 704 as of the date of the
petition. Spurlock failed to Iist one of her honmes, and listed no
househol d goods and furnishings, no accounts receivable, no
vehi cl es, and no busi ness equi pnent or furnishings.

Spurl ock did not provide Bank One statenents for the period
from August 22 through Novenber 22, 2001. Those statenents showed
| arge bal ances and nunerous deposits and wi thdrawal s, even though
the business had been frozen by that point. For instance, in
Sept ember 2001, $11,000 was wire transferred to Spurl ock’ s father.
Spur | ock i nstead provi ded the statenent for Novenber 23 t o Decenber
22, 2001, which showed a small bal ance due to | arge wi t hdrawal s and
paynments in previous nonths.

At a creditors’ neeting, Spurlock stated under oath that the
equi pnent CLI possessed was returned to the equi pnent’s | ender or
owner . However, in 2001 Poore sold a Toyota van, production
equi pnent, and three pallets of supplies such as paper and bi nders
to Mchael Buban, who owned a litigation support business and
printing conpany that neighbored CLI. The equi pnment purchased by
Buban was |l ocated on CLI's prem ses and was being used by CLI. A
CLlI enpl oyee testified that the equi pnrent was of the type purchased
and used by CLI. Paynents for these itens total ed approximtely
$50, 000. Wthout the benefit of this information, the bankruptcy

trustee concluded that there were no assets to distribute to



creditors and Spurl ock was di scharged.

1. ANALYSIS

Poore argues that there was insufficient evidence to support
his convictions for (1) conspiracy to defraud the United States,
(2) tax evasion and (3) conspiracy to commt bankruptcy fraud.
Spurl ock joins Poore’s first argunent and further alleges that her
bankruptcy fraud conviction was illegal as potentially predicated
on statenents made outside the statutory period, and that the
restitution order inproperly inposed joint and several liability.

A. Suf ficiency of the Evidence

In reviewing sufficiency clains, this court asks “whether
viewi ng the evidence in the |ight nost favorable to the verdict and
drawi ng all reasonable inferences fromthe evidence in support of
the verdict, a rational trier of fact could have found that the
evi dence established the essential elenents of the offense beyond
a reasonabl e doubt.” United States v. Ferguson, 211 F.3d 878, 882
(5th Gir. 2000).

1. Conspiracy to Defraud the United States

Spurl ock and Poore both argue that there was insufficient
evi dence supporting their convictions for conspiracy to defraud the
United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. The el enents of the
of fense are “(1) an agreenent between two or nore persons to pursue
an unlawful objective, (2) the defendant’s know edge of the

unl awf ul obj ective and voluntary agreenent to join the conspiracy,



and (3) an overt act by one or nore of the nenbers of the
conspiracy in furtherance of the objective of the conspiracy.”

United States v. Freeman, 434 F.3d 369, 376 (5th Cr. 2005).

The indictment set forth the nmanner and neans of the

conspiracy as foll ows:

1. The defendants conceal ed incone to CLI by diverting CLI
recei pts into the bank account at Bank of Anerica.

2. Thereafter the defendants failed to record these
recei pts on the books and records of CLI

3. The defendants used these funds for |iving expenses and
the acquisition of personal assets.

4. The defendants knowingly failed to file tax returns

with the Internal Revenue Service to report this
t axabl e i ncone.

Poore and Spurl ock argue that the second prong was not proven, as
there was significant testinony indicating that all of the BofA

sales figures were recorded on CLI's books.

A review of the record reveals that the evidence supporting
the verdict on this charge was nore than sufficient. Wile there
was conflicting evidence regardi ng whether the Bof A sales figures
were recorded on CLI's books, “[t]he jury is free to choose anong
reasonabl e constructions of the evidence.” Ferguson, 211 F.3d at
832. Here, the jurors may have credited the testinony of
Silverman, the prosecution’s auditor, who indicated that a nunber
of deposits to the Bof A account were not accounted for in the sales
figures provided to Law. The defendants’ fraud examner simlarly

noted certain deposits in the Bof A account that he could not find



a corresponding sales receipt for. Wi |l e he suggested that the
slips may have been | ost or m splaced by Law, the jurors were not
obligated to credit such hypothetical explanations. Considering
t hat Poore and Spurlock kept a Bof A account hidden from Law, had
custoners wite checks to Poore personally, and used Bof A funds for
significant personal expenditures, a reasonable jury could have
concl uded that Poore and Spurl ock conspired to underreport CLI’'s

sal es. *

Moreover, even if all of the Bof A sales figures were reported
to Law, the evidence was still sufficient to convict Poore and
Spurlock on this count. This is what governnment w tness Silvermn
was suggesting when he stated, as appellants repeatedly stress,
that “I give you the fact that [the Bof A sales figures] may have
even all been reported by CLI.” He was not recanting his testinony
as to the nunerous Bof A sales figures that went unreported, but
merely posing a hypothetical that even in such an event the

evidence still supports a finding of conspiracy to defraud.

W agree with Silverman, and di sagree with Poore’ s argunent
that, “[i]f the incone (the sales) is being regularly reported to
the accountant[,] and if it appears on the books of CLI, then there

is no conceal nent or attenpt to conceal these assets.” By not

* Wi | e general manager Marco Nunnerly indicated that he
recorded all paynents he received on CLI’'s books, he also
testified that Lori Spurlock woul d occasionally open up conpany
checks outside of his presence and take themto Poore. There was
no indication that these checks were ever recorded.
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providing Law with the Bof A account, and by instructing Law to
adj ust sales downward in the face of sal es/deposits discrepancies,
a reasonabl e jury coul d have found that those were overt acts ai ned
at concealing incone and defrauding the United States of tax
revenue. Especially where, as here, the sales data was provided in
a rather sloppy and inconprehensive form naking an accountant

especially likely to rely on the deposit nunbers.

This is what Silverman neant when he expl ai ned that Law woul d
have expected that all deposits were nade to the operati ng Bank One
account, and “not knowi ng where all those bank accounts are, or
whet her they exist, he can’'t properly do a tax return that reflects
the correct incone.” Providing an accountant with sl oppy sales
data wi t hout the appropriate deposit nunbers to conpare it agai nst,
and t hen advi si ng a downward adj ustnent to the sal es nunbers i s one
met hod of fraud consistent with the first “manner and neans”

alleged in the indictnent.® That provides sufficient evidence to

> Appel lants al so argue that the proof at trial was at fata
variance with the indictnment. A variance occurs when the
charging terns of an indictnment remain unaltered but the evidence
at trial proves facts other than those alleged. United States v.
Pui g-Infante, 19 F.3d 929, 935 (5th Cr. 1994). The appellants
argue that the governnent’s theory on this count changed when it
failed to show that CLI was not reporting all of its inconme and
instead attenpted to showthat it failed to file 1099s, W2s and
K-1s. But “the governnent is not limted to the overt acts
pl eaded in the indictnment in proving a conspiracy, but may show
ot her acts of conspirators occurring during its life.” United
States v. Carlock, 806 F.2d 535, 550 (5th Gr. 1986). A fata
variance only occurs when the indictnment does not provide a
def endant sufficient notice of the evidence introduced at trial.
Here, where the indictnment charges Poore and Spurlock with

10



uphol d the convictions on this count.
2. Tax Evasion

Poor e al one was charged wth and convicted of tax evasion. To
establish tax evasion, there nust be a tax deficiency and an
affirmative act taken as a wllful attenpt to evade or defeat the
tax. United States v. Bishop, 264 F.3d 535, 550 (5th Gr. 2001).
Poore does not contest that there was a tax deficiency, but argues
that he made no willful attenpt to evade the taxes. The failure to
file a tax return, even if willful, is insufficient to sustain a
conviction for tax evasion. United States v. Doyle, 956 F.2d 73,

75 (5th Gir. 1992).

This court has pointed to a “wde range of conduct” that

supports finding a willful attenpt to evade taxes:

[ K| eeping a double set of books, nmaking false entries or
alterations, creating fal se invoices or docunents, destroying
books or records, concealing assets or covering up sources of
i ncone, handling one’s affairs to avoid nmaking the records
normal | y acconpanyi ng transactions of a particular kind, any
conduct |ikely to mslead or conceal, holding assets in
ot hers’ names, providing false explanations, gi vi ng
i nconsi stent statenents to governnent agents, failing to
report a substantial anount of incone, a consistent pattern of
underreporting large anmounts in inconme, or spending |arge
anmounts of cash that cannot be reconciled wth the anount of
reported i ncone.

Bi shop, 264 F.3d at 550. Contradicting Poore’s argunent that the

concealing incone and failing to file tax returns, they had
sufficient notice that their failure to file financial docunents
inrelation to CLI, such as W2s, could be an issue.
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gover nnent showed nothing nore than a failure to file a tax return,
the evidence at trial denonstrated that Poore used several of the
tactics supporting willful tax evasion listed in Bishop. He
conceal ed assets using the Bof A account, used the Bof A funds for
per sonal expenses, handled affairs in cash to avoi d naki ng records,
and repeatedly failed to report |arge anounts of incone. The
activities are conparable to those in Bishop, where this court
found the defendant “deposited [substantial suns] in his personal
account. . . . [and] gave inaccurate and m sl eading information to

his return preparers.” 1d. at 552.

Based on this evidence, a rational juror could have found t hat
Poore took a nunber of actions that constituted a wllful attenpt

to evade or defeat certain taxes.
3. Conspiracy to Conmt Bankruptcy Fraud

Poore al so contests the sufficiency of the evidence supporting
his conviction for conspiracy to conmt bankruptcy fraud. It is
uncontested that Poore sold a Toyota van, production equi pnent, and
three pallets of supplies to Mchael Buban while bankruptcy
proceedi ngs agai nst Spurlock and CLI were underway. Poore argues
that this activity could not support his conviction because (1) he
was not a party to Spurlock’s bankruptcy proceeding, and (2) the

sold itens were his own property.

First, one need not be the nanmed party in a bankruptcy

12



proceeding to be guilty of conspiring to conmt bankruptcy fraud.
See 18 U.S.C. 8§ 152(1). To support a charge of conspiracy, al

that nust be shown is that there are two or nore people with an
unl awf ul pur pose, the defendant’s know edge of that purpose, and an

overt act in furtherance of it. 18 U S.C § 371

Second, there was sufficient evidence to find the itens Poore
sold to Buban did in fact belong to CLI's estate. The machinery
and copy supplies were of a type normally used in CLI's business
operations; a CLI enployee, Brandy Arney, testified that he
purchased sone of the equi pnent; the equi pnent was all |ocated on
CLI's prem ses; and CLI depreciated such equipnent in its taxes.
G ven these facts, and considering that the timng of this |arge
sale coincided with the initiation of bankruptcy proceedings, the
jury could reasonably have inferred that Poore and Spurlock

conspired to conceal property of CLI's estate.

B. Spurl ock’s Conspiracy to Commt Bankruptcy Fraud Conviction

Spur | ock rai ses a separate argunent concerni ng her conviction
for conspiracy to commt bankruptcy fraud. The conspiracy
indictnment |isted two objects: (1) concealing property belongingto
the debtor estate and, (2) knowi ngly nmaking “a fal se statenent or
decl aration under penalty or perjury in relation to a bankruptcy
case under Title 11.” Spur |l ock argues that her conviction my
have been based on the conspiracy’s second object of know ngly

maki ng a fal se statenent, and that the indictnment—+eferencing only

13



a false statenent and a bankruptcy case—nmde it possible for the
jury to render its verdict based on evidence of statenents made in
bankrupt cy proceedings from 1993 or 1995. Such a verdict woul d be
barred by the applicable statute of limtations. The district
court denied Spurlock’s notion for acquittal and we review the
denial of a notion for acquittal de novo. Ferguson, 211 F.3d at

882.

W need look no further than the indictnent to dismss
Spur | ock’ s argunent. Consider the disputed paragraph of this

indictnment inits entirety:

Begi nni ng i n or about August 2001 and continuing through in or
about March 2002, the exact dates being unknown to the G and
Jury, in the Northern District of Texas and el sewhere, the
def endants Jerry Lewis Poore and Lori Kay Spurl ock, aided and
abetted by each other, knowingly and wllfully conbined,
conspired, confederated, and agreed with each other to comm t
certain offenses against the United States, nanely: in a
bankruptcy case filed under Title 11 of the United States
Code, knowi ngly and fraudulently conceal from creditors and
the United States Trustee property belonging to the estate of
the debtor, in violation of 18 US C § 152(1); and (b)
know ngly nake a fal se statenent or declaration under penalty
of perjury inrelationto a bankruptcy case under Title 11, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 152(3).

(Superseding Indictnment, Count 9) (enphasis added). It is clear
from this Jlanguage that the indictnment alleges that false
statenents were made roughly between August 2001 and March 2002.
Spur |l ock reads the paragraph’s opening |language limting the tine
frame of the offense as applying only to the conceal nent object of

t he conspiracy, |eaving the fal se statenent object entirely w thout

14



time constraints. This reading is curious and unsupported.

A nore natural reading of the indictnent is that everything

prior to “nanmely:” constrains each of the two objects that follow.?®
The district court, therefore, properly denied the notion for

j udgnent of acquittal.

C. The Restitution O der

Finally, Spurlock argues that the district court erred in
ordering her to pay, jointly and severally with Poore, a total of
$164,002 in restitution to the IRS and a defrauded bankruptcy
trustee. Spurlock did not challenge the restitution order in the
district court, therefore this court reviews for plain error.

United States v. Inman, 411 F.3d 591, 595 (5th G r. 2005).

Spur | ock does not contest the propriety of arestitution order
per se, but argues that she is less cul pable than Poore and
therefore should be responsible for less than the full anount.
Spur |l ock was convicted of conspiring to defraud the United States
and conspiracy to commt bankruptcy fraud. If a defendant
contributes to the loss of each victim “the court may make each
defendant |iable for paynent of the full anmount of restitution or

may apportion liability anong the defendants to reflect the |evel

® 1t is admittedly peculiar that the fal se statenent object
is preceded by a “(b)” while the conceal nent object |acks a
corresponding “(a)”, but that is wthout consequence. It does
not affect the opening |anguage that limts the jury to
considering fal se statenents nmade from 2001-2002.
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of contribution to the victinis | oss and econom c circunstances of
each defendant.” 18 U.S. C. 8§ 3664(h) (enphasis added). This Court
has previ ously upheld the inposition of joint and several liability
anong nultiple defendants. See, e.g., United States v. Chaney, 964

F.2d 437, 454 (5th Cr. 1992).

Spurlock relies on facts indicating that Poore was her
superior at CLI, and that he was abusive in their personal
relationship. This, she argues, nmakes her | ess cul pabl e t han Poore
and shoul d reduce the anount of restitution she is responsible for.
Wi | e evi dence of Poore’ s superior status at CLI and of his abusive
behavi or m ght nake hi mnore cul pabl e —and a j udge coul d have hel d
himliable for a greater anount than Spurl ock —we cannot say that
it was plain error for the district court to hold Spurl ock equally
liable. The proper question is not whether she is nore or |ess
cul pabl e than Poore, but whether she contributed to each of the
| osses the victins incurred. Here, she conspired in the schenes
t hat damaged the I RS and bankruptcy trustee, thereby allow ng her

to be held fully |iable for the damages they incurred.

[11. CONCLUSI ON

The judgnents of the district court are AFFI RVED
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